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The international work does not interrupt
EAAF’s work in Argentina, where we continue
to search for those disappeared during the last
military dictatorship (1976-1983) and to investi-
gate current cases of alleged police abuses.

Current Status of Human Rights
During the first half of 1995, investigative
activities relating to the recovery of disap-
peared persons in Argentina increased signifi-
cantly. Two events were responsible for this
increase. The beginning of March saw publica-
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CONFESSIONS
OF AN ARGENTINE

DIRTY WARRIOR
HORACIO VERBITSKY

AFTERWORD BY JUAN MENDEZ

Ceaeral Camasei, Human Rights Watch
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tion of The Flight, by Horacio Verbitsky, a highly
respected investigative Argentine journalist who
has uncovered many cases of corruption and
human rights abuses. The Flight is based on the
testimony of 48 vear old retired Navy Captain
Adolfo Francisco Scilingo. Scilingo admitted to
Verbitsky that he had participated in flights con-
ducted by the Argentine Navy in 1976 and 1977,
During these flights, prisoners detained in the
Navy School of Mechanics (ESMA), a clandestine
detention center, were flung from the planes into
the Argentine Sea. Before the flights, the prisoners
were injected with a sleep inducing drug nick-
named Pentonaval, due to its similarity to the
anesthetic pentotal, and when they became
unconscious, they were stripped naked and
dropped from the planes. Although this informa-
tion had already been known from the testimonies
of prisoners who had survived detention at
ESMA, Captain Scilingo’s account was unusual
because it came from a high ranking official who
had directly participated in the events he recount-
ed. His statements elicited a great deal of commo-
tion throughout the country, and also caused
international repercussions.

“I would be a hypocrite if I said that I am repen-
tant for what I did. I don’t repent because I am
convinced that I was acting under orders and that
we were fighting a war,” Scilingo said. However,
he was so tormented by the memory of his partic-
ipation in those flights that he could not sleep
without taking sleeping pills or drinking heavily.

“I'm not confessing to clear my conscience, ['m
talking because I feel like the Navy has aban-
doned us, left us to the wolves, the very ones who
were loyal and followed orders.”

Scilingo became so distressed after his first
flight, when he almost slipped and fell through
the portal from which he was throwing bodies,
that he turned for comfort to a military priest. The
priest absolved him, saying the killings had to be
done to “separate the wheat from the chaff.”
Scilingo also said that military officers had told
participants in the flights that the church hierar-
chy sanctioned the missions as a Christian form of
death.

1 New York Times, March 11, 1995 2. New York Times, April 3. 1995.
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Years later, Scilingo said, he began writing let-
ters to commanders in chief of the former mili-
tary juntas as well as current Navy officials,
urging them to disclose what happened during
the dictatorship, and to make public the orders
they imparted to the military personnel as well
as a complete list of “disappeared” people
dumped from airplanes and killed in other
ways. But their only response was to offer him
money to keep silent and then threaten to take
away his military medical and social insurance.
He finally decided to go public when, in 1994,
two former comrades were denied promotion
because they confessed before Congress that
they had tortured political prisoners during the
“dirty war.” Scilingo felt abandoned by the
Navy's indifference to the plight of the rank-
and-file officers who carried out the orders to
torture and kill prisoners. ’

Following Scilingo’s declarations, other
repentant personages, as the media called them,
appeared from similar quarters. Army officers
and members of the federal police also gave
public testimonies concerning their participa-
tion in the military government’s repressive
activities. In some cases, they supplied specific
information about the circumstances in which
some disappeared persons had been detained
or died.

Some others stated that they would do the
same thing again in similar circumstances.

President Menem, who had granted broad
pardons to military officers and leftist guerrilla
leaders, first reacted by calling Mr. Scilingo a
criminal and ordering the Navy to strip him of
his rank due to his conviction on fraud charges

‘related to a 1991 car theft case. Trying to put a
lid on further confessions, Mr. Menem advised
former military torturers and executioners not
to rub salt in old wounds, and to confess their
actions to priests rather than the press. Publicly
coming forward to give testimony is a way of

returning to a horrible past that we are trying to
forget,” he said.* Some of Menem’s close aides
even suggested that the confessions were part of
a campaign to hurt the President’s bid for a sec-
ond term in the upcoming May 14 elections.

Despite Menem's efforts, however, the confes-
sions and statements reopened a major public
debate over the disappearances and the events of
the 1970s. The issue recieved constant attention
from the media for months. The testimonies had
a great impact on the families of disappeared
persons, and the human rights organizations
pronounced themselves in favor of full disclo-
sure.

“Menem believes that by forgetting the past he
can pacify this country” said Emilio Mignone,
director of the Center of Legal and Social Studies
(CELS), a leading human rights group. “But
that’s not so, because he’s going against history.
Society eventually demands to know what hap-
pened.”

In this discussion, the role of the Catholic hier-
archy during the repression was also called into
question. The church reacted in different ways; in
some cases denying its complicity with the for-
mer military regime, and in others requesting a
formal confession and apology from the church
hierarchy for not having opposed the regime.

In order to give a clear idea of the results of
this wave of testimonies, it is worth mentioning
that on April 24th the current Commander in
Chief of the Army, General Martin Balza,
appeared on a prime time television show and,
for the first time, publicly acknowledged that the
Armed Forces had tortured and assassinated
political prisoners during the last military regime
(1976-1983). He clearly stated that the Armed
Forces bore institutional responsibility for these
serious crimes, and that they were not simply
acts of individual excess in the context of a dirty
war, as was previously sometimes claimed by
Army members. Moreover, contradicting the

3 Newspaper Pagina 12, March, 1995; New York Times, March 13, 1995, April 3, 1995, May 11, 1995, October 26, 1995;
El Vueio, by Horacio Verbitsky, Coleccion Espejo da la Argentina, Editorial Planeta, Buenos Aires, 1985,
4 “National Nightmare Returns to Argentine Consciousness,.” The New York Times, April 2, 1995.

5 The New York Times, April 5, 1995,
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military’s previous stance, he took the position
that to obey criminal orders is a crime. He con-
ceded that attempts by the government to con-
trol subversion should never have departed
from legal methods. He also stated that the mil-
itary coup of 1976 was a grave error and that the
Argentine Armed Forces should never again
interrupt the democratic process. However, he
said that the main responsibility for the entire
dirty war lay with “almost the entire society, by
action or omission.”

“Reconciliation is a difficult and long
process,” Balza said in the broadcast, and he
hoped this acknowledgement would serve as
an initial step. He urged his comrades in the
Armed Forces to furnish information on the
locations of the bodies of the disappeared per-
sons as a humanitarian and conciliatory gesture
towards both the victims’ families and society
in general, although he stopped short of order-
ing them to do so. To those who wanted to dis-
close information, he offered confidentiality,
and stated that his office would take responsi-
bility for disseminating the information.
Regrettably, however, to date no one has sup-
plied lists of names of people thrown into the
ocean or buried elsewhere. Such acknowledge-
ments by a Commander in Chief currently in
office are unprecedented in Latin America.
Most of Argentina’s political parties supported
and welcomed Balza’s statements, though their
degree of enthusiasm varied significantly.

Immediately after General Balza’s public
statement, and only a few weeks before
Presidential elections, President Menem
changed his mind, and said he would consid-
ered rescinding the laws that bar prosecution of
military members for their crimes during the
period.®

Menem won the election, but no further
action has been taken on this issue. Two former
guerrilla leaders, Mario Eduardo Firmenich of
the Montoneros and Enrique Horaldo
Gorriaran Merlo of the ERP, also came forward

and publically criticized some of their former
actions. The second timely event was the promul-
gation and enactment of Laws 24.321 (which
established “forced disappearance” as a juridical
term) and 24.411 (which provided economic com-
pensation for the relatives of disappeared and
deceased persons). These laws were promulgated
at the initiative of the Undersecretary of Human
Rights from the Ministry of the Interior, and were
approved by the national legislature. The passage
of the first law was the first time the Argentine
state accepted the juridical existence of forced dis-
appearances.

The basic effect of both laws is that persons
detained during the military government, as well
as persons with disappeared relatives, have the
right to petition for economic indemnity from the
state. A large number of people have presented
themselves to the Undersecretary of Human
Rights in order to initiate such proceedings. These
two developments brought a great many people
into contact with EAAF in the first half of 1995.
Some relatives of victims had never before pre-
sented their cases to state or nongovernmental
organizations, and they turned to EAAF in search
of more information concerning their loved ones.
This influx of people created a great increase in
EAAF's investigative activities.

In April 1995, an unprecedented group was
formed in the province of Cordoba. It brought
together children of disappeared persons, former
political prisoners, and victims of assassination.
The group, Hijos por la Identidad y la Justicia con-
tra el Olvido y el Silencio (HIJOS) now has four-
teen chapters throughout Argentina. Its main aims
are to reconstruct historical memory, to search for
siblings who were born in prison or kidnapped,
and to revindicate the spirit of the struggles of
their parents. They proposed to create a network
of the children of the disappeared, organized in
groups devoted to addressing legal issues and
issues involving identity and historical recon-
struction. Their central goal is a moral and legal
condemnation of past human rights violations.

76, “Podna aerogar Meﬁém la lay ;:ie obediencia debida” in La Nacfon;e\\;spaber. April 27, 1595 and “Truth in Argentina”, The New York

Times, May 11, 1885,
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‘E.N UN MENSAJE INEDITO, EL™JEFE DEL.

‘Admitio

En la primera revisién profunda de ia represién itegal
de los afos 70, el jefe del Ejército, tenlente general
Martin Balza, admitié anoche que hubo torturas y
aseslnatos, promovid la reconstruccion de las listas de
desaparecidos y dljo que nadle esta obligado a cumplir
drdenes Inmorales. Fue |a respuesta ante denunclas
de un ex sargento, que dijo que ef Ejército eliminé
prisioneros arrojdndolos vivos, desde aviones, al mar.

E L P A IS

BALZA ACEPTO LA RESPENSABILIDAD

.

EL EJERGITO

S £n un discurso meditc
para un jefa del Ejército, el
general Martin Balza
asumig la responsabilidac
ingtitucional por la
“represion” sin el uso ce la
ley, critied el golpa de
Estado de 1975y, al
mismo tiempo, dluyd las
culpas en ‘el inconscignte
colectivo ce la Nacidn
toda”. Sumensaje fue la
respuesta a la pnmera
confesidn publica de un
miembro del Ejéreito y
Balza lo difundid desougs
da dps contactos con
Camilign y uno con
Menem.

Balza enlico ol uao e (s forlur ¥ 41 aeesinate.

ehnqua . lamnen, Quidn dIAGE A ragimen constiuciani,
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" CLARIN x 'Buenos Arres, migrcoles 26 de abril de 1995

“EJERCITO PROMOV!O LA RECONSTRUCCION DE LISTAS DE DESAPARECIDOS

Balza que hubo torturas y

durante Ia gres:on llegal
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EXch
~ | representante del Vaticano durante la dlctadura P1o |aghi, conocia e
stalle Io que ocurrié en la ESMA Y hasta fue consuliagdo sobre si se del
dejar con vida & 40 detenidos-desaparecidos. Nunca lo denunmo
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F rt 0 El general Balza reconqcid por primera vez la responsablhdad
Ue e ap y institucional del Ejército en la represion llegal, las torturas y

los.asesinatos. pero diluyé la culpa en ‘la Nacion toda” y se

p0||tICO | negd adarla orden de reconstruir lo ocurrido,....
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= Janio Menem cuanto Alfonsin, Borddn y Massacces! respaidaron la
ANTHROPOLOGY TEAM »

autocritca del jefe del Ejéraito a 13 represion llegal # Gyeron que es
bueno tooo 1o que ayude a esciarecer fo que ocurne en el
pasato = fambien. Erneslo Sabalo v 13 mayonia de 10s organismos de
nerecnos JUmanos, excepto un seclor e las Madres de Plaza de
Mayo, que cntich a Balza
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're dumped into the Atlanuc have re-
una's debate about the military's dirty
sion of 1976 to 1683, Emilia Rapan, ieft,

1bout “death flights” in which poliucal

v
_ b
£ d4ardo Escugers for The

VH Times
ane Ahcia Fernanaez. members of the Maothers of
the Plaza gel Mayo human nights group. threw
Towers last week into the River Plate, which empues
n1o the At.!antlc. 1 & rermnder of the flights.

Argentine Tells of Dumping

~

- ‘Dirty War’ Captives Into Sea

BUENOS AIRES, March 10 —
Many of the victims were so weak
from torture and detention that they
had 1o be helped aboard the plane.
Once in flight, they were injected
with a sedative by an Argentine
Navy doctor before two officers
stripped them and shoved them to
their deaths.

Now, one of thase officers has ac-
knowledged that he pushed 30 pris-
oners out of planes flying over the
Atlantic Ocean during the right-wing
military  Government’'s  violent
crackdown in the 1970's.

The former officer, Adolfo Fran-
cisco Scilingo, 48, a reured navy
commander, became the first Ar-
gentine military man (o provide de-
tails of how the military dictatorship

By CALVIN SIMS

then in power disposed of hundreds
of kidnapping and torture victims of
what was known as the dirty war by:
dumping them, unconscious but
alive, into the ocean from planes.

In his account, which was pub-
lished this month in the Argentine
newspaper Pagina 12, Mr. Scilingo
said that he took part in two of the
“'death flights’* in 1977 and that most
other officers at the Navy School of
Mechanics in Buenos Aires, where
he served, were also wnvolved in such
flights. He estimated that the navy
conducted the flights every Wednes.
day for two years, 1977 and 1978, and
that 1,500 to 2,000 people were killed.

"1 am responsible for killing 30
people with my own hands,”™ Mr.
Scilingo said in an interview after his
account was published.

"But | would be a hypocrite if |
said that [ am repentant for what |
did. [ don't repent because | am
convinced that | was acting under
orders and that we were fighting a
war."

Mr. Scilingo's disclosure has re-

~ opened a bitter debate here over the

Continued on Page A8, Column
_ Y aARem )

In Exposing
, Abuses, |
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Argentine
Earns Hate

By CALVIN SIMS

LA PLATA, Argentina, Oct. 25 —
Adol{o Francisco Scilingo is a hated
man in Argentina.

The military hates him because he
broke a sacred code of silence in
March when he admitted pushing
political prisoners to their deathsi
from airplanes during the mi]itary|
dictatership in the late 1970°s.

Human rights groups hate Mr. Sci- |

| lingo pecause he 1s a confessed tor-!

turer and murderer and {former mili-
1ary oflicer who cannot be prosecut-
ed because of an amnesty. And the:
Government hates him because his
admission nearly derailed a re-eiec-
ticn bid by President Carlos Saul
Menem this year.

Mr. Scilinge, who has been impris-
oned here for five months awaiting
trial on fraud charges, asserts that
he 1s innocent and that he was
framed by the mulitary and Mr.
Menem, who ordered that Mr. Sci-
iingo be stripped of his retirement
rank after he spoke out.

‘I have no regrets about telling the
truth,”” Mr. Scitingo said in an intar-
view at the jall of this provinciat
capital where he is being held, about
40 miles southeast of Buenos Aires.
"t am at peace with myself because |
have said those things that [ felt had
o be told, and 1 will continue to give
details of what happened.”

His account of prisoners’ being se-
dated, stripped and pushed to their
deaths in the ocean provoked a na-
tional debate over the military's
"“dirty war” of repression and per-
suaded senior officers to admit pub-
licly for the first time that the armed
forces had committed abuses.

Martin Abregu, director of the
Center for Law and Social Studies, a

Argentina

leading human nights group. said he
believed that Mr. Scilingo had heen
jailed In retaliation for admiting (¢
crimes during the repression

‘| don't think that the goal was '~
silence him, because it was cieartnat
Scilingo wanted to continue talking.
Mr, Abregu said. "' think his 12108
was a way of discouraging others
from confessing.”

The judge in Mr. Scilingo's case.
Osvaldo Miguel Solimine, said in an
interview that there was overwhelm-
ing evidence implicating Mr. Scilings!
in a scheme to defraud Argentines -/
tens of thousands of dollars.

""There has been no influence here.
by the Government or by the m::-
tary,” Judge Solimine said. '*Scilingn

uals to commit fraud and under t~e |
law we must keep him in jail.” .

Human rights groups say Mr 5. 1.7
lingo has been forced to realign hir-
self philosophically. Scilinge
seeking allies where he never wouid !
have looked for them,”” Mr. Abrezu |
said. “‘As for us: do we love Scilingo?
Of course not! But we don't want him
or other Scilingos to stop talking =~ |

Mr. Scilingo said he passed ‘us |
days exercising and writing hisj
memuoirs, which he said would reveal
other crimes that he witnessed at the !
infamous navy detention center in.
Buenos Aires in the late 1970's. .

Among those crimes, Mr. Scihngo)
said, was the abduction of two babies
born to women being detained at the
center. The babies were either soid
or adopted. Mr. Scilingo said.

More startling were mass crema-
tions of prisoners who were killed at
the detention center in huge fires
fueled by old tires, said Mr. Scilingo,
who ran the auto repair division at
the school. " Ofticers would come to
me and say, 'We need some old tires
tpday because we are going to have a
barbecue,’ ' he said. .

Since admitting to human nights
abuses in March, neither the Govern-
ment nor the military has disputed
the account he provided at that time.
A Government commission reported
that 4,000 people had been killed and
least 8,900 arrested or kidnapped and
never seen again.

Mr. Scilingo, who retired as a cap-

tain, is marned and has four chul-
dren. If convicted when his case goes
to tria! in about a year, he aces 3 to
10 years in prison, Judge Solimine
Said.
+ The charges stem from nis particy-
pation in an entertainment complex
that offered services like a swim-
ming pool, disco and other recre.
ational activities. He and other man-
agers are accused of wmntng bac
checks, opening bank accounts undei
false names and orgamzing :
scheme to defraud supplies.

I i

ew York Times |

Siamy davee Gamma Liasan (ar The N

Aclolfo Francisco Scilingo
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Introduction to Argentine cases

and academic activities

EAATF continues to search for people who dis-
appeared during the last military government in
Argentina, as well as working on current cases
of police brutality. As forensic anthropological
experts have been included more and more fre-
quently in the investigations of past human
rights abuses in many countries around the
world, the demand for DNA analyses has
increased. Extracting genetic material (DNA)
from bones or tooth samples from skeletal
remains and comparing the results with DNA
from blood or hair samples from presumed rel-
atives of the victims is in many instances the
only possible way to make a positive identifica-
tion. This is particularly true in countries where
the victims of human rights abuses are peasants
or the urban poor who have little or no access to
medical or dental assistance, and as a result lack
written medical histories. Therefore, EAAF is
trying to improve its access to laboratories
where genetic analyses can be performed at low
or no cost. In previous years, we have been
sending samples to Dr. King’s laboratory at the
University of Seattle, Washington, one of the
world’s leading centers in DNA research, which
generously performed analyses of samples from
human rights cases free of charge. But the labo-
ratory has many other tasks to attend to.
Therefore, earlier this year, Physicians for
Human Rights, a nongovernmental organiza-
tion based in Boston, arranged for funding for a
genetic specialist, Dr. Michelle Harvey, who will
work exclusively on human rights cases at Dr.
King’s laboratory. Dr. Harvey will perform
analyses for other human rights organizations,
such as EAAF. Her work will increase the num-
ber of cases we can have analyzed, and improve
the time in which we can expect results. She is
currently working on samples from cases
researched by EAAF in Ethiopia. In addition,
EAAF is also sending cases for DNA analysis to
Dr. Erika Hagelberg at the University of
Cambridge, United Kingdom. In the past, Dr.

Hagelberg has also analyzed samples sent by
EAAF free of charge.

Finally, in 1995, for the first time EAAF used
an Argentine laboratory for DNA analysis. The
laboratory is directed by Dr. Daniel Corach, of
the State Biochemistry University of Buenos
Aires. EAAF sent the laboratory samples which
were presumed to correspond to Andres Nufiez,
who disappeared on September 28, 1990, during
the current democratic period. The genetical
analysis confirmed the identification of Nufiez.
Two months ago we sent two more samples
thought to correspond to two persons who dis-
appeared during the last military dictatorship.
We are hoping to continue this collaboration
which could eventually simplify and increase the
number of cases in which DNA analysis is used.

Academic Field

Since 1994, EAAF has strongly increased its
presentations and training activities within
Argentina, working not only with academic
institutions but also with state judiciary systems,
and state medicolegal and police institutions.
After 12 years of work in Argentina and as a
result of increasing public presentations, EAAF
has helped to introduce forensic anthropology as
a new field of anthropology in the country.
Furthermore, while it was once seen as a strange
branch of anthropology, forensic anthropology is
currently accepted and definitively incorporated
in Argentina as a new field within the forensic
sciences and the medico legal system. Thus,
EAAF’'s work has helped improve the judicial
system’s investigative tools, and to a small
degree, has helped bring about a better adminis-
tration of justice. During the last two years,
EAAF has given seminars and presentations in
post graduate courses for forensic medical doc-
tors and police doctors in the State Universities
of Buenos Aires, Salta, Cordoba, Rosario, and
Patagonia and the Criminalistic Center of the
Buenos Aires Police State at La Plata, among oth-
ers institutions. Since 1994, EAAF has conducted
a semester-long seminar on forensic anthropolo-
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gy, human rights violations and political vio-
lence at the Anthropology Department of the
State University of Buenos Aires. The seminar
will continue in 1996, and will probably be
repeated during 1997. Every semester EAAF
also offers one class on forensic anthropology
during the Biological Anthropology course at
the National University of Buenos Aires. EAAF
will continue similar activities during 1997.

The Case of Mario Alfredo

Stirnemann

In early July 1994, Maria Laura Stirnemann,
25 years old, arrived at EAAF’s offices seeking
information about her father, who was forcibly
disappeared. Maria Laura has lived in France
since her mother was forced to leave the coun-
try during the military government. Mario
Alfredo Stirnemann, Maria Laura’s father, was
26 years old when he was kidnapped on
November 3, 1975 from a public street in the
Temperley neighborhood of Buenos Aires
Province as he walked to work. His relatives
petitioned various agencies for his release, or
for information on what had happened to him,
without any success. Years Jater his daughter,
Maria Laura Stirnemann, began to investigate
what had befallen her father. In the National
Registry of Argentine Persons she found a death
certificate recording his death on November 18,
1975, in an alleged shootout with security
forces. After this, Maria Laura went to the
municipal cemetery in Lomas de Zamora,
Buenos Aires Province, and upon consulting the
burial records, she found her father’s name: M.
A. Stirnemann, listed as buried in Sector 37,
Letter Q, grave #43. In this tomb, according to
the records, another person by the name of N.
Ledesma was also interred. No other informa-
tion on this person was recorded. The personnel
of the cemetery speculated that this name might
belong to a newborn child. According to these
records, the body of Mario Alfredo Stirnemann
was still in this grave. Because the body had
been brought in by the Police of Buenos Aires

Province, the administration of the cemetery
informed Maria Laura that she would need a
court order for its exhumation. As part of her
investigation, Maria Laura also searched for
information about her father’s case in the penal
records for Lomas de Zamora and the Federal
Justice Office of La Plata, without success. At the
end of July, Dr. Silvia S. Gonzales, the judge who
presided over case number 47.082, entitled
“Stirneman Maria L. About Deposition” at the
criminal and commercial court No. 11 at Lomas
de Zamora, summoned members of EAAF to act
as expert witnesses in the exhumation and
analysis of the remains which had been discov-
ered in that grave. On July 26th, 1994, two skele-
tons were exhumed from grave #43, letter “Q”
from section 27. It was later possible to establish
that one of the skeletons was that of a fetus,
named in the records as “N. Ledesma.” The
other skeleton was that of Mario Alfredo
Stirnemann. His identity was determined
through a comparison of the skeletal remains
with information about his physical features,
such as a dental chart, supplied by his family.
Stirnemann had suffered lessions caused by five
firearm projectiles, of which only one, near the
pelvis, was recovered. His skull had been shat-
tered by the impact of a bullet; this wound had
probably caused his death. One week later,
Maria Laura and her family transported the
remains of Mario Alfredo to Olavarria, his native
town in the province of Buenos Aires.

ANTHROPOLOGY TEAM
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Halié los restos de su padre desaparecido tras increible investigacién

“Las pruebas de la muerte, las deudas de la vida

(Por Daniel Puertas) l..udjoven Maria
Laurs Btirnemsnn retornd a Oluvarria
creyendo que s¢ Lrataba simplemente de
una qmdt:. de nl.lrnl "ﬁ’iﬁ'df"ﬁ" r el

su infancia e hija de pa-
m“ldu por Is vordgine violenta de
ios ahos setents. Durante siete de los once
m gd“:e i\;lvld enin Mpzlml.lnl (11} d::l:drn
1! en una prisién y su padre era

ura sorobra desdibuyada de l‘.’l cual nadie le
daba noticias ciertas, aunque se le mintié

.alguns vex una historia de abandono, de
una trpicién comun de hombre que busca el
calor de otrus brazos olvidunde a quienes
aran hasts ese momento su famili

Maris Laura Stirnemann no sabia al
Lsger & ls Olavarris de sus recuerdos qus,
#u wee instante ﬂ“m' iniciaba une pes-
Quisa tenaz que la llevé a desentarrar con
la unica herramienta de sy fa inquebran-
table, palabras sepultadas mucho tismpo
atrds on lo mis profundo de la memoria de
;Ifumc hombres y mujares de la genera-

0 que la precedié.

Quizds tampoco sospechd que algunas
semanas después briria que su voca-
cibn de arquedloga nacia de la necesidad
impostergabie de construir sin fallas su
B:_pn identidad, para lo cual

ol pasado sin temorss

Tal vez es0 lo supo cuando terminé de
reconstruir el Gltimo itinerario seguido
por ese padre de rasgus brumosos que de
vz an cuando se waomabs durante el asal-
to imprevisto de algun recuerdo de lu in-
fancia remots.

Y Jo terminé de asumir l}'“L menos de

on

vei ras, aue
sostuvieron casi diecinueve anos atrds Ia
ITerocidad morial de loa sueiios borrascosos

de su padre quedaron definitivamente en
una tumba del cementario de Olaverria.

Duranie mda de disciocho afive lon res-
Loa cribados a de Mario Alfredo
Stirmemann permanscisron en una foas
comun ep ¢l cementorio de Lomas de Za-
mora

’ Apenu unoa pocos dias sntes que las

sutoridades de see cementerio decidieran '

arrgjarios & un osario donde se confundi-
rian definitivamente con otros, perdiendo

peara todas la eternidad la chance de con- -

servar la médica identidad que ite la
muarts, su hija Maria Laura llegt hasta
, los desenterrd, los trajo s Olavarria
¥ terming da asumirlos, de una vez y pars
siampre.
Un largo camino de
rogreso & Casa

Mario Aliredo Stirnemann muri6 aeribi-
ilado ¢l 18 de noviermbre de 1976 en un su-
pueslo enlrentamiento con fuerzas eape-
cinlea de Ju Policia Federal. En realidad,
babia aido detenido catoree dias antes.

Tenia dos hijas, Maria Laura, 1a mayor,
¥ Silvina, que naci6 en la circel en la que
astaba detenids su madre.

Mario Stimemann ¥ Lauta Hosn Fran-
chi eran una pareja que compartia los sue-
fioa revolucionarioa que dominaron las dé-
cadas del sesenta y el setenta. lmagina-
ban en horaa de delirio grandes insurrec-
ciones populares que deaplenanan siste.
IMzEs eCoROILCeS v ostEuctaras e pcldvr

debia sacar-

Los restos de un olavarriense que murio
en las sangrientax luchas politicas que
sacudicron & la Argentina en Jos ailos
setenta y que figurd como “desaparecido”
durante més de dieciocho ahos fueron
hallados por su hijo y sepultados ayer en
Olovarria. La joven, radicads netunimente
en Francia, desarrolld une ardua y casi
imposible investigacién durante dos
meses hasta que logré su objetivo. Partid
apenas de un nombre de guerra que

alguicn le di{n que utilizaba su padre,
nuembire del ERP, mienirus netosbu en ln
clandestinidad en el Gran Buenos Ajres,
La busgueda termind en una fosa comin
del cementerio de Lomas de Zamona. El
equipc de antropologia forense identificéd
lox huesos y usl enc hombre murit
iegalmente muchos ailos despuéy de su
muerte real, mientras sus hijas
recupersban una pieza esencisl para
claborar su propia identidad.

Maria Lourn y Silving Stirnemann pudieron ayer enterrer a su padre, muerto dieciocho

aios antes

Laura fue detenids. Mario pudo huir y
siguid pvleando en la clandestinidad en el
Gran Buenos Aires. En Olavarrie queds-
ron sus hijas.

Algunos diarios publicaron en noviem-
bre (F:f aho del “Rurrinam" que Carlos Ro-
dollo Luidwid, un miembru del Ejército
Revolucionario del Pueblo “fus-abatido en
un tiroteo en la sequina de Frias y Pretti
on Témperley”. )

-, - Ese nombre nada dijo a Olavarria.

Mase de disciocho afioa despuéa, a princi-
pios de 1984, Mar{a Laura Stirnemann de-
cidié buscar los restos de su padre, sin as-
ber dénde ni edmo habia musrto.

Sélo tenia un nombrs como punto de
partida: “Jorge®. Era ¢l “nom de guerre”
que al menos por un tiempo habia usado
su padre en el Gran Buenos Aires.

Cortl;’u ﬂwo dato comenzd a entrevis-
tar a todas rsonss que podrian apor.
. tarle alguna in'i':rmuidn. No eran do{::

as.

Muchos estaban musrtos. Otros no po-
dian o no querian recordar y algunos se
aferrahan & un silencio de clandestinidad
que no habian borrado los atios ni los ava-
tares de la historia,

Maria Laura hablé con ex detenidos po-
liticos. con militantes de aquella época,
eon cunucidos Tugoaces de wu pudte,

Resenar cada golpe de ilusion o cada pu.
finjada de desencanto seris largo y ocioso.
Un dia encontré a un amigo ¥ compahery
de luchas de Mario Stirnemann per una
circunsatancia afertunada.

Otra numbre quoe estuve freale a sus
‘.

wjus en los gjempleres de un diario desupa-
recido, runrdndo en los archivow de utro
diarju, la babia guiado. Maria Teresa se
liamaba una muger que fue muerts en un
sitio donde podia haber estado su padre.

Trabujonamonty, in votuntad inclaudi-
cuble de Marin Laura ibs acumulandu pis-
tas.

Ya sabia que durante unos dias su rldm
habia estado an "Puente 127, uno de los lu-
arag de horror donde s mantanis a ics
etenidos 8l margen de wda leg ¥ toda jus-
ticia, ubicado cerca de ia ruta 3.

Cuando hallé ul amigo de su padre su
« Carlos Rodolfo Luidwid era en i
ad Murio Alfrede Stirnemann. Con una
punta de dolor le llegd la certeza de que
una etapa de su vids terminaba de com-
pletarse.

Se prewantd en una comisaria de Tém-
perley. S¢ limité o preguntar si quedaba
alfuien que hubiara prestado servicios all{
a finales de 1975,

Solo unr voz dijjo si. El policia laments
haberlo dicho cusndo Maria Laurs la des-
currujé lu preguntu o guemurropu: jdénde
iban & parar los caddveres de los que mu-
rieron en Témperley en los afioa de plomo?

Pero después de algunos rodeos de ver-

gunn:a lhg.:(i la respueita: al cementerio
e Lomas d¢ Zamora.

Con la u{uridad de haber llegado sl fi-
nal, Maria Laura reviso los archivos con
un empleado. Pero ne habia ningin Carloa
Rodolio Luidwid alli. Tampoco existia en
lon expadientes gordados en ningunn po-
licie unu releridu o o muecte de Luidwid

ni de Stirnemann.

Cuwi vencida, Muri Lauro pitht que
buscaran & un Stirnemunn. Sorpresiva-
m%nu. Mario Alfredo Stirnemann si figu-
raba.

Sus restos estaban ¢n una fosa comun,
muozeliclon con lom ilo 1o bebd musrLo de
muerte natural por lu riisme fechu.

El permiso judiciat para la exhumacién
fue concedido. El equipo de .ntcr;r.ologin
forense que identifico s tantos varss
#in nombre ¥ que fue sembrando el Lerror
onla Ropdb{iu Argenlina también trabs-
jO en eate caso.

No se pudo deterniinur 8 gué distancia
se hicierun los disparus, pero si saber que
esos huesos que el tiempo iba desgustando
muy lentaments pertenecian a Mario Al-
tm{osm mann.

Tumba con nombre

El nector del cementerio de Lomax de
Zamursa se inunda con fucilidad. La deci-
sidn de sacar todos los restos de alli ya es-
taba tomada.

En poco tiempo mas. los huesos de la
fosa comun iban e ker arrojados al onario
{ut Maria Laura jamus hubiera liegado

asta ellos.

Perv, quizd no casualmente, Maria Lau-
ra complets au investigacion a tiempo.

Al medio dia de ayer lux huesos de Murin
Allredo Stirmnemann luvron sepultsdos en
el cementetio municipal de Olavarris, en
una tumba con nombre

Marix Laura y Silviny Stirnemann re-
tornaran & Paris, donde viven dewde 1982,
cuando u Leura Rosa Franchi una dicta-
dura en agonia le concedié el derecho a sa-
lir del pais.

Mouris Laura continuiira sus estudios de
nryuosdogio ¥ Sllving b de sugiologia, ea-
rreras elegidas no por uzar.

No planean volver al pais de su infancia.
Su vida eatd en Paris.

Cavando en el pasadn remoto de la hu-
manidad o desentrusinndo lon codiguy de
convivencia de loa grupes socisles, Maria
Laura ¥ Silvina continuaran su vida, cada
una con la certidumbre tranquilizadora de
haber encontrado Ia pieza qus le faltaba a
su identidad.

Tiensn amigos franceses y tandrén hijos
franceses.

No olvidan, empero. a una tierra sacudi-
da ciclicamente por coninocivnes de es-
panty, donde crecen sueias fragiles para
soportar la realidad, pero que se resisten
tozudamente & morir. Donde el caos es co-
tidiano y las utopias sueien bautizarse con
sangre.

Sepuramente slgunu vez, trajinando
con sus historias ?roluamenle francesas,
en algun erepuaculo melancdlico, las inva-
da una tristezs sin nombre

Maria Luure y Silvina Stirnemann,
huerfanas de padre dende sus primeros
anos de vida, de infancias con preguntas
sin respuesta, presintiendo que uf:unns
companeras de colegio las evitahan por
consejo de Bus padres, se sentiran tul vez,
o milen de kilomelton de distancin, desins
peradumente argentin-
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The Case of Ana Maria del Carmen

Granada de Goncalves

On November 19, 1976 at 5:45 AM, military
forces broke into the house at 668 Juan B. Justo
Street. These forces were members of the
Federal Police of Buenos Aires Province, and of
the Argentine Army, under the charge of
Lieutenant Colonel Manuel Fernando Saint
Amant, chief of Area 132. They opened fire on
the house, destroying the door. A shootout
occurred, and Omar Dario Amestoy, his wife
Maria del Carmen Fettolini de Amestoy, and
their three year old son, Fernando Amestoy,
were killed. The daughter of Omar and Maria,
Maria Eugenia, who was five years old, was
taken to San Felipe Hospital with symptoms of
asphyxiation, a reaction to the tear gas used in
the attack. She died several hours later, accord-
ing to the judicial file. In addition to the
Amestoy family, a woman bearing documents
with the name of Maria Cristina Loza died in
the attack. Her six month old son, presumably
named Manuel Valdez, was the only survivor of
the episode. He was also taken to San Felipe
Hospital. Accounts of this operative were pub-
lished in the newspapers at the time, but these
reports contained several errors relating to the
number and sex of the victims. A file was
opened on this case before the Federal Justice
Office of San Nicolas, and was first assigned to
Surrogate Judge Dr. Luis H. Milessi. The female
corpse was not identified as that of Maria
Cristina Loza, on account of the fact that the fin-
gerprints did not match. Furthermore, the judge
concluded that the documents carried by Loza
and her son were false. At that time, neither the
female corpse nor the child documented as
Manuel Valdez has been successfully identified.

However, in spite of these judgements, the
cadaver was buried in the cemetery of San
Nicolas under the name of Maria Cristina Loza.
In 1982, the remains were exhumed and moved
to the general ossuary of the cemetery.
According to the Argentinian municipal laws
pertaining to cemeteries, bones are taken to the

Argentina

ossuary when no burial duties have been paid
for at least five years.

The four bodies of members of the Amestoy
Fettolini family were taken to their relatives sev-
eral days after their death. The surviving child
was put under the care of the “Minors” Court of
San Nicolas, where a file was opened for him
labelled “Manuel Valdez - his situation in San
Nicolas.” However, this file was later mislaid.

The Disappearance of Ana Maria del Carmen
Granada de Goncalves

GastonRoberto Goncalves disappeared on
March 24, 1976, the day of the military coup.
Both Gaston and his companion Ana Maria del
Carmen Granada had worked for the National
Dept. of Adult Education. Ana Maria worked
there as a scenographer and artisan. At the time
of his capture, she was six months pregnant. In
June 1976 she gave birth to a son whom she
named Manuel Goncalves Granada. Gaston's
mother, Matilde P. de Goncalves, was also
detained for two days in Police Precinct
Commissary 21 in Buenos Aires. She was taken
into custody on March 29, 1976 and questioned
under torture in the presence of Colonel Ramon
A. Camps as to the whereabouts of her daughter-
in-law. Ana Maria’s mother , Josefina A. Vera de
Granada, of Paraguayan nationality, last had
news of her daughter in December 1975. Based
on the fact that the Vera de Granada house was
searched in March 1977 by security forces look-
ing for Ana Maria, her mother concluded she
had been kidnapped in April 1977.

EAAF’s Participation

In August 1994 a lawyer named Sara [rma
Canepa brought this case to the attention of
EAAE Dr. Canepa had acted as the advisor to
the Undersecretary of Minors and Families of the
Province of Buenos Aires. Although ten years
had passed since her involvement in work relat-
ing to minors, Dr. Canepa had never abandoned
the hope of identifying the male child who had
survived the military operative described above.
With this end in mind, she had saved documents

ANTHROPOLOGY TEAM
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relative to the case and continued to gather
information informally. Dr. Canepa requested
EAAF’s assistance in determining the identity
of the woman who had died in the operation
discussed above, and who had been buried in
San Nicolas under the name of Maria Cristina
Loza despite the fact that the documents she
carried had been proven false .If this woman
could be identified, it was hoped that the iden-
tity of the child could be deduced. The docu-
ments in Dr. Canepa’s possession included
copies of the fingerprint tests of the victim
referred to in the judicial case as
“No Name - Maria Cristina
Loza,” as well as photocopies of
the identity document (DNI) ..
with a picture of the victim.
EAAF searched their database of
disappeared persons for women -
with male children between the
ages of four and eight months by
November 1976, when the mili-
tary operation occurred. From
this selection, photographs of ‘&
the victims were compared with
the photograph from the identi-
ty card issued in the name of Maria C. Loza.

In addition, a member of EAAF travelled to
San Nicolas and Rosario to obtain testimonies
from anyone who might have information relat-
ing to this case. These efforts resulted in the
conclusion that the woman killed in the opera-
tion might have been Ana Maria del Carmen
Granada. However, this suggestion contradicts
the supposed date of Ana Maria’s capture sup-
plied by her mother. EAAF reviewed the facts in
Ana Maria’s case and consulted her file in
CONADEP (National Commission on
Disappeared Persons).” These investigations,
combined with discussions with human rights
organizations and the Committee of Churches

of Paraguay, showed that no hard evidence exist-
ed dating her capture in April 1977. Ms. de
Granada, Ana Maria’s mother, had inferred this
date from the search of her house by security
forces in March 1977; in reality her daughter had
been killed four months before.8 It is possible that
security forces, having failed to identify Ana
Maria as a victim of the operation in San Nicolas,
did not know that she was dead and continued to
look for her. Ms. de Granada passed away in
1989. EAAF turned to Ana Maria’s mother-in-
law, Ms. Matilde Perez de Goncalves, for more
information.

In 1994 EAAF asked her to
look at the photograph attached
to the false identity document.
Upon doing so, Ms. de
Goncalves immediately recog-
nized the photo as that of Ana
Maria del Carmen Granada.

Identification of Ana Maria
del Carmen Granada

_ g The fingerprints of the female
- cadaver in San Nicolas were
difficult to analyze, due to
smudging and erasures. EAAF sent the prints to
the Laboratory of Measurement and Signal
Processing of the Faculty of Engineering of the
National University of Mar del Plata, an institu-
tion with which EAAF signed an agreement of
cooperation in 1994 (see “Argentina: Academic
Activities,” in this report). In this laboratory, the
legibility of the prints was improved through

techniques of Digital Image Processing (DIP).
EAAF and the Office of the Undersecretary of
Human Rights together asked the Police of
Buenos Aires Province to compare the digitally
processed fingerprints of the unidentified female
cadaver and the prints of Ana Maria del Carmen
Granada. This comparison had positive results,

Ana Maria del Carmen Granada de Gn

7. CONADEP was created in 1984 by President Raut Affonsin, in order to investigate the fate of persons who had disappeared under
the previous military dictatorship. The commission finished its work in 1985, its archives are currently housed in the Office of the

Undersacretary of Hurman Rights.

8. Ms. de Granada already knew of EAAF’s work. In 1991 she had supplied pre-mortem data on her son for EAAF's database of dis-
appeared parsons, which eventually made his identification possible.

ARGENTINE FORENSIC

18



confirming the identification of the remains as
belonging to Ana Maria Granada. On June 16,
1995, Ms. de Goncalves and EAAF, with the legal
representation of Dr. Dileo, presented the case,
together with the positive fingerprint identifica-
tion, to the Federal Court of San Nicolas. Ms. de
Goncalves declared before the judge that she had
identified the photo attached to the identity doc-
uments as belonging to Ana Maria del Carmen
Granada. EAAF testified regarding their role in
gathering evidence on the case, including the
expert fingerprint identification. The current
Judge of San Nicolas, Dr. Jose M. Acosta, com-
missioned another fingerprint comparison. On
September 11, 1995, this final test ratified the
positive identification of Ana Maria del Carmen
Granada. As stated above, the skeletal remains of
Ana Maria had already been transferred to the
general ossuary. For this reason, they could not
be recovered. The death certificate filed in the
name of Maria Cristina Loza has been changed
to that of the deceased’s true name, Ana Maria
del Carmen Granada de Goncalves.
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Update

Gaston Roberto Goncalves was identified by
EAAF in June 1996. He had been interred as NN
in the Escobar cemetary , province of Buenos
Alres.

The Case of Andres Nuiiez

The case of Andres Nufiez is of special interest
in Argentina, because it is the first case of a
forced disappearance in the current democratic
period; that is, since December 1983. In the con-
text of a recent past of massive forced disappear-
ances, the case of Andres Nunez was particular-
ly serious. Andres Nufiez was a 32-year-old con-
struction worker who was married and father of
a six-month-old girl. At the time of his kidnap-
ping, police suspected him of having stolen a
bicycle. The police investigation of his disap-
pearance lasted almost five years, during which
time the judge in charge of the case, a former
police officer named Amilcar Vara, was accused
of withholding evidence that implicated mem-
bers of police of Buenos Aires province in
Nufiez’s kidnapping. During the investigation,
there were numerous public demonstrations,
widely covered by the press.

Chronology of the main Nufiez reported his
disappearance on September 28th, 1990, after he
had been arrested by police in the city of La
Plata, Buenos Aires province. The arrest took
place at his house in the district of Ensenada, in
the vicinity of La Plata.

In response to a Habeas Corpus request, the
judge determined that Andres Nufiez had been
held at the Police Investigations Department in
La Plata, a dependency of the Police of Buenos
Aires Province (Brigada de Investigaciones de la
Policia de la provincia de Buenos Aires).

The case was opened as number 9518, and the
file was entitled “Huck, Alejandro and others
concerning infraction of Art.141-144, including
2nd and following of the Penal Code” Huck was
among the police officers present in the
Investigation Department the night Nunez dis-
appeared. The case was delayed by the judge in
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charge, Dr. Amilcar Vara, and several public
demonstrations took place in protest. In
December 1993, Judge Vara ordered the arrest of
the entire Police Investigations Department per-
sonnel who had worked on the night of
September 28th, 1990. They were charged with
“qualified illegitimate deprivation of freedom,
aggravated with torture, followed by death”. In
January 1994, police officers Fernando Azuna
and Rolando Laffit were arrested. Two months
later, they were released by the Court of
Appeals, on the basis of a Habeas Corpus
request filed by their lawyers. On March 28th,
1994, 7 policemen -Alejandro Huck, Juan
Puchetta, Oscar Silva, Hector Lescano, Hector
Ferrero, Roberto Martire and Ernesto
Zabala-surrendered themselves to the authori-
ties. Another four policemen implicated in the
case-Alejandro Gonzalez, Luis Ponce, Pablo
Gerez and Cesar Carrizo—remained at large. In
July 1994, the Court of Appeals freed the 7
policemen, revoked the orders of Judge Amilcar
Vara, and changed the charges in the case to
“qualified illegitimate deprivation of freedom”
The Court also exempted the four policemen
still at large from serving a jail sentence.

The lawyer for the Nunez family requested
the removal of Judge Vara. On July 7th 1995,
Judge Ricardo Szelagowski took charge of the
case. Jose Daniel Ramos, a member of the La
Plata police department who served as a wit-
ness, testified before Judge Szelagowski that
Andres Nufiez had died under torture in the
Police Investigations Department, and that his
remains were cremated and buried in a field
located in the county of Gen. Belgrano, also in
Buenos Aires province, 150 kilometers from La
Plata. The witness also indicated that Judge
Vara had protected the perpetrators of Nufiez’'s
death, and had been paid for doing this by the
police.

In August 1995, Judge Ricardo Szelagowski
contacted EAAF and initiated work on the case.
Work began immediately in the field where tes-
timony indicated that remains were buried. On
the 9th, 10th and 11th of August, excavations
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were conducted, and charred human bones and
some personal items were discovered. The per-
sonal items were identified by the family as
belonging to Nunez. It was also discovered that
the field was the property of a relative of Pablo
Gerez, one of the fugitive policemen and alleged
perpetrators of the homicide.

Results of EAAF’s work

The following conclusions of the investigation
were presented to the Court:

More than 300 burned and calcinated bone
fragments were exhumed. Seventy-five percent
of the bone remains were identified and cata-
logued. Only two entire bones were found, and
these were also burnt. The pattern of the bone
fractures was consistent with that produced
when a corpse, rather than a skeleton, is cremat-
ed The bone fragments were found in correct
anatomical position, indicating that the crema-
tion of the body was done in situ. On the basis of
analysis of some of the bone fragments, it was
established that the victim was between 30 and
42 years old at the time of death. The victim’s per-
sonal items were found, unburnt immediately
under the charred area, and were identified by
the victim’s relatives. It was determined that the
body had been undressed at the time it was
burnt.

Identification
Due to the state of the bone remains, it was not
possible to identify them using the traditional
methods of forensic anthropology. Instead, a
genetic test was conducted in the laboratory of
Dr. Daniel Corach of the Faculty of Pharmacy and
Biochemistry at the University of Buenos Aires.
Genetic material was recovered from a large bone
fragment, and compared with material from
Nufiez family. Although the study was difficult,
due to the degree to which the remains had been
burnt, the results of the analyses indicated a 91%
compatibility between the two samples. In legal
terms, the level of compatibility obtained in the
genetic tests was not sufficient to make a positive
(continued page 24)
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Ordenaron ln defencion de otro

“implicado en el asesinato de

La justicia Penal de nuestra ciudad
orden6 al detencién de otro policia en la

causa donde Se investiga el secuestro y ase-
shodo del joven Andrés Nitfiez, quien fue de-
tetido en forma ilegal por efectivos de la

Bfigala de investigaciones La Plata el 28

de! mbre de 1990 y al parecer sometido
a ormentos gue le ocasionaron la muerte,
informaron ayer fuentes judiciales.
“Segin consignd 1a fuente, ¢l juez en lo
pertal Ricardo Szelagowski, por la secretaria
del doctor Javier Guzman, ordend la deten-
cion del suboficial Victor Dos Santos. sos-
pechady de haber participado en las torturas
que. le ocasionaron la muerte a Nifiez.
- Fuentes tribunalicias indicaron que el po-
licfa Pos Santos pertenecia a la Brigada de
Investigaciones de Quilmes y que habfa sido
raslaftado a la Brigada de La Plata en ¢l
momento que se produjo el hecho por el que
ahora se le orden6 la detencion En 1992
pase a disponibilidad cuando cumplia tareas
en la-cgmusarfa 9* de La Piata.

Dos Santos es conocido como ¢! *Pai
Ricardky”, ya que se dedica, al parecer en la
actualidad & curanderismo en muestra ciudad
¥ otras ciudades del Conurbano bonacrense

Con este efectivo. ahora son 14 los po-
licias implicados en la desaparicidn y muerte
de Nifez

Com se sabe. diez de ellos se encuen-
tran detenidos. Elios son César Carrizo, Gus-
vo Veiga. Héctor Lazcano, Héctor Ferrero,
Roberto Midnire. Emesto Zabaia (imputados

_por el delitv de omitir tormiras). Eduardo
Fraga tdetenido por privacion ilegal de la li-
hertad v 1ormento seguido de muene), Oscar
Silva, Juan Puchets ¥ Jousé Ramos (impu-
tados de tormenwos sepwdo de muerte).

En wanjo, junte a Dos Samos permanacen
profugos Luis Ponce. Pablo Gerez y Jorge
wonzdles. sobre quienes pesan Grdenes de
capture por el delite de tormentos seguido
de muene.

Como se recordard. el juez Szelagowski
ordend la detencion de los ex integrantes de
la Bngada de Investipaciones La Plata, luego

REREE T BT

Los amuedlogas v ia abapadn de la familia
Nunez, Elba Témpera, cuando fueron ha-
fiados, en una fhinca de General Belgrano, los
resios del joven Andrés Niuhez.

"de reunir pruebas que permitieron acreditar

que Niifiez fue detenido en la noche el 28
de setiembre de 1990 en su casa de calle
78 y 119 y de allf trasladado a la depen-
dencia policial de calle 61 entre 12 v 13 de
nuestra ciudad.

Segin se desprende de la causa hay 1es-
ugos que afirmaron que esa noche vieron
Nifiez en la Bngada y que alli fue tortu-
rado hasta su muerte.

El pulicfa Ramos (ahora detenido por
este hechu) en agosto de este afio apornd
datos al juez que permitieron encontrar el

finca de General Belgrano, propiedad de un
familiar del policfa Gerez. uno de los im-

icia
as Nonez

putados quc permanece protugo.
El westimonio de Ramos fue la clave para
cuerpo calcinado de Nifiez enterrado en una  que la justicia pudiera esclarecer el hecho

¥ ordenar la detencién de los ahora 14 im-
pllcados
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identification. Accordingly, Judge Ricardo
Szelagowski did not rule that the remains had
been identified. Subsequently, however, the
legislature of the Province of Buenos Aires, tak-
ing into account all the evidence associated
with the case and the results of the genetic
study, identified the remains as belonging to
Andres Nufiez.

Current standing of the case (December 1995)

On the basis of the evidence presented by the
EAAF, Judge Ricardo Szelagowski ordered the
arrest of 12 police officers. In September 1995,
nine were detained, while three remained at
large. The three fugitives are presumed to be
the actual perpetrators of Nunez’ torture and
death.

The previous judge, Amilcar Vara, is current-
ly on sick leave, and the Supreme Court of
Buenos Aires province is studying his role in
the Nufez case. It is possible that he will resign
from his post or be subject to impeachment.

The Case of Miguel Bru

On August 17th 1993, Miguel Bru, a 23-year-
old journalism student at the University of La
Plata, province of Buenos Aires, disappeared.
Evidence strongly suggests that the Buenos
Aires police were responsible for his arrest,
which supposedly occurred on Punta Blanca
beach, in the county of Magdalena, some 50
kilometers from La Plata. Bru was supposedly
taken to the 9th Precinct of the Buenos Aires
police, in the city of La Plata. Four months
before, on April 13th 1993, Bru’s house at 281
69th street in La Plata was illegally raided by
members of the 9th Precinct. The raid was
allegedly a response to a “supposed complaint
about noise,” but the police did not produce a
search warrant, and threatened to burn down
the house. As a result of this illegal raid, Miguel
Bru filed a complaint at the Prosecutors Office
(Fiscalia de Camaras) in La Plata. Bru himself,
together with other witnesses of the raid, were
called in to testify before personnel at the
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Investigations Department of the Buenos Aires
Province Police (Brigada de Investigaciones de la
policia de la provincia de Buenos Aires). Their
testimony, however, subsequently disappeared
from the file. It should be noted that part of the
judicial investigation inte police misconduct in
Buenos Aires Province is carried out by the police
department itself.

On July 5th 1993, another raid took place at the
house of Miguel Bru. This time, the police
brought a judicial order claiming that a nearby
commercial establishment had been burglarized.
The complaint about the burglary had been filed
in La Plata’s 9th Precinct. This raid, which yield-
ed no evidence connected with the burglary, was
proposed to the judge by Walter Abrigo, the chief
of external affairs at the 9th Precinct..On August
15th 1995, Miguel Bru went to the town of Bavio,
in the county of Magdalena, to take care of a
house belonging to his friends, Lorena Baker and
Santiago Binetti. On August 17th, Carolina
Villanueva, Miguel’s girlfriend, went to Bavio to
meet him. She found the door of the house
unlocked and a fire burning inside. Villanueva
filed a judicial complaint at the Criminal and
Correctional Court Number 7 of the Judicial
Department of La Plata, under the jurisdiction of
Judge Amilcar Vara. The case is numbered 66,317
and is entitled “Claim: Disappeared Person”
Numerous demonstrations regarding Miguel
Bru’s disappearance, including “silent marches”
and public rallies, have taken place. Several
politicians have expressed their support to the
Bru family, including the mayor of La Plata, Julio
C. Alak. The provincial Senate of Buenos Aires
has requested information on the case from the
province’s executive branch. A similar request
was also made by the province’s House of
Representatives.

The main steps that have been taken regarding
this case include the following: September 14th
1994: The Criminal and Correctional Appeals
Court confirmed the case against police agents
Abrigo and Lopez for “illegitimate deprivation
of freedom.” Both are junior officers of the Police
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Un cadaver hallado en Berisso
- podra ser ¢l de Miguel Bru

Peritos forenses comenzaron ayer a trabajar en la autopsia del cuerpo que,
segun los datos que aportd un policia detenido, podria ser el def estudiante
de periodismo desaparecido. Los resultados estardn el viermes.
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of Buenos Aires province, and both participated
in the raids on Bru’s house.

Witness Celia Gimenez testified that while
her brother Horacio Suazo was serving jail time
for a petty crime he shared a cell with Bru at the
9th Precinct. Gimenez said that Suazo told her
the perpetrator of Bru’s death was police officer
Justo Lopez. Suazo died several years later on
October 27th 1994 in a confrontation with the
police in City Bell, in the county of La Plata,
Buenos Aires Province. On June 7th 1995, a for-
mer prisoner at the 9th Precinct, Hernan H
Lafranconi, declared that he also saw Miguel
Bru in the same precinct.

On June 28th 1995, Justo Lopez was
arrested and taken to the 7th Precinct, in
the neighborhood of Abasto. He is charged
with “illegitimate deprivation of freedom,
torture followed by death, and violation of
the duties of a public official.”

Participation of EAAF

In September 1995, the chief justice of the
Criminal and Correctional Court of La Plata,
Dr. Ernesto Domenech, received a complaint
from the same witness who had identified the
site where the remains of Andres Nuez were
found. This witness indicated an area in the
county of Berisso, Buenos Aires province, as the
site where Miguel Bru’s body had been buried.
The EAAF conducted excavations over a period
of 20 days in an area of 500 square meters, with
negative results.

In November 1995, the same witness indi-
cates that the area was 100 meters from the
original site of excavation. The EAAF conduct-
ed new excavations, using a geo-radar provid-
ed by the “Area Geofisica” company, based in
Buenos Aires. The result was also negative. The
search for the remains of Michael Bru is still
ongoing. However, given the evidence so far
available, the Court of Appeals has ruled that
Bru’s death was a homicide.
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The case of Sandra Noemi di Nofa

On June 26th 1995 Mrs. Rosa A Gerez, mother
of Sandra Noemi Di Nofa, came to the EAAF’s
office in Buenos Aires. Her 19-year-old daughter
had supposedly died in the city of Tucumn on
June 15th 1990. Sandra N. Di Nofa had moved
from Buenos Aires to the province of Tucumn in
northern Argentina a few months before, sever-
ing all contact with her family. Her death caused
great turmoil in her family. The cause of death,
according to the legal medical report, was “car-
dio-respiratory failure” as a result of a severe
pulmonary pathology. The identity of the
deceased was established through her finger-
prints.

Because her family was poor, Sandra’s father
could not travel to claim the body for several
days after the death. The degree of the body’s
decomposition consequently prevented identifi-
cation. The Di Nofa family refused to confirm
that the corpse was that of their daughter,
though they did decide to transfer the body to a
cemetery in Buenos Aires province. Sandra’s
mother then began the lengthy task of trying to
demonstrate that the body was not that of her
daughter, and that she was therefore still alive
somewhere. In QOctober of 1991, Mrs. i Nofa
was able to convince the judge to open a grave
located in the Pablo Podest Cemetery in the
county of Tres de Febrero, Buenos Aires
province, where the remains were buried. The
purpose was to recover the dental pieces and
hand bones in order to conduct a genetic analy-
sis that would facilitate identification of the
remains. The task was carried out by a private
institute called “First Argentine Center for
Immunogenetics” (PRICAI). The Institute
reported that on their first attempt they could
“not isolate DNA with a high enough molecular
weight to allow for poliform study. The expert
witnesses cannot therefore carry out the identifi-
cation.” For that reason, and on the recommen-
dation of the Undersecretariat of Human and
Social Rights of the Ministry of the Interior,
Sandra Di Nofa’s mother turned to the EAAF.
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Participation of EAAF

Mrs. Di Nofa asked the EAAF to conduct an
exhumation and identify the skeletal remains
that allegedly belonged to her daughter. In
order to establish the identification, she provid-
ed precise and relevant dental records. On
October 18th 1995, the skeleton was exhumed,
and was subsequently analyzed. It was con-
cluded that the remains were indeed those of
Sandra Noemi Di Nofa.The corresponding
report was submitted to the Subsecretariat of
Human Rights of the Ministry of the Interior,
and the case was closed.

The Case of Lake San Roque

Between November 1 and 2, 1995, two mem-
bers of the EAAF travelled to the city of Carlos
Paz in the province of Cérdoba in order to ana-
lyze some bones found on the coast of Lake San
Roque. The request was made by Dr. Amalio
Rey, lawyer for human rights organizations in
Coérdoba. Rey had expressed to the District
Attorney of Carlos Paz the possibility that the
remains could belong to people disappeared
during the last military dictatorship (1976-
1983). Because several accounts claim that the
bodies of disappeared people were thrown into
Lake San Roque, every time the water goes
down and bones appear there is great commo-
tion in the province. In this particular case, the
remains were taken to the office of the EAAF in
Buenos Aires in order to be studied more thor-
oughly. In the analysis, it was confirmed that
the remains belonged to at least two individu-
als. Their bio-anthropological characteristics
indicated that they belonged to an indigenous
group that no longer exists at this site. The pos-
sibility that they belonged to anybody who dis-
appeared under the dictatorship was therefore
ruled out. ‘

The Case of San Andres de Giles

On Thursday, August 31, police agents of the
San Andres de Giles Precinct, located some 130
kilometers from the Capital, arrested 32-year old
Luis Fernando Iribarren because his 5%-year old
aunt, Alcira Ester, had disappeared. According to
Iribarren’s testimony, his aunt had died of cancer
at a clinic in the Capital. Because this version
sounded suspicious, police interrogated him.
Iribarren finally confessed that he had murdered
his aunt with a machete blow to the head, and
had buried her body in the garden of her house.
After the police found the body, Iribarren
requested an expansion of his testimony to the
judge. In his new declaration, he stated that nine
years before, in 1986, he had killed his parents,

. o e

Excavation in progress at San Antonio de Giles
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Luis Juan Iribarren, 46 years old, and Martha
Langevin, 42 years old, as well as his brother
Martin, 16, and his sister Marta Cecilia, 9, and
had buried them in the town of Tuyut’, 25 kilo-
meters away from San Andres de Giles, at the
Buenos Aires province. Since then, the police
had been searching for the bodies. However,
they obtained few results and utilized inade-
quate methodology.

EAAF's participation

The search for the bodies, ordered by Dr.
Costia, chief justice of the town of Mercedes,
centered on a field located 25 kilometers from
San Andres de Giles where, according to
Iribarren’s testimony, the bodies were buried.
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After police and firemen conducted excavations
with no positive results, the judge called on the
EAAF in on the case. On November 15th and
16th, the team found four bodies in a common
grave located in an area near Iribarren’s former
home. The four bodies were dressed and had
several personal items with them.

Once the lab studies were conducted, three of
the bodies were positively identified as belong-
ing to the parents and the brother of the
accused. Genetic analyses will be conducted on
the fourth skeleton to identify it, because while
the sex and age coincided with those of the sup-
posed victim, there was no other physical evi-
dence to confirm the identification.
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Cinco. Iribarren confesd que matd a sus padres, sus dos hermanos y a su tia.

EL CASO DE SAN ANDRES DE GILES

Preventiva por un
multiple asesinato

Es para el hombre que confesd haber matado a toda
su familia « Polémica por el cuerpo del delito

El juez de Mercedes Eduardo Costia
dicté la prisién preventiva por homicidio
calificado en cinco oportunidades a Luis
Fernando Iribarren {32), el hombre de
San Andrés de Giles que confesé haber
asesinado a sus padres, sus dos herma-
nos y su tia.

El 2 de setirmhre pasadn. Iribarren le

victimas son su familia- podria pasar el
resto de su vida en la carcel.

Historia de sangre

Iribarren fue detenido el jueves 31 de
agosto, a raiz de la sospechosa desapari-
cién de su tia Alcira Ester {59). Le habia
cantado a sng vecinos que s tia habia
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Other Activities
Agreement with the Mar del Plata National
University

In order to further inquiry into techniques for
improving the possibilities of identifying skele-
tal remains, EAAF signed a cooperative agree-
ment with the Engineering School of the
National University of the city of Mar del Plata,
Buenos Aires Province. The objectives of this
agreement were the following: a) the applica-
tion of Digital Image Processing techniques to
improve fingerprint images and b) printing the
improved images. Members of the Laboratory
of Signal Measurement and Processing of the
Engineering School at Mar del Plata will work
with members of EAAF to apply these tech-
niques to specific cases.

Academic Activities in Argentina.

sTwo seminars on forensic anthropology in
the Provinces of Cordoba and Catamarca, as
part of the First Post-Graduate Course in Legal
Medicine, organized by the Catholic University
at Salta in collaboration with the National
University of Cordoba and the National
University of Rosario.

»Presentation at the 11th National Congress
of Argentine Archaeology, San Rafael,
Mendoza, May 1994. Presentation at the School
of Psychology of the University of Buenos
Aires.

s Presentation at the IVth Argentine Congress
of Social Anthropology, Olavarria, Buenos
Aires Province, July 1994.

*Presentation as part of roundtable discus-
sion organized by Credicoop Bank of the
Federal Capital, entitled “Does a Country with-
out Memory have a Future?” Other partici-
pants were Dr. Jaime Fuchs, the Association of
Relatives of Detained/ Disappeared People for
Political Reasons, Mothers of the Plaza de Mayo
(Founding Line), and the Grandmothers of the
Plaza de Mayo.

eParticipation as exhibitors in the First
Workshop on the Introduction to Forensic

Anthropology, organized by the Department of
Social Studies and General Juridical Projects of
the Supreme Court of Buenos Aires Province.
This event took place in La Plata, Buenos Aires
Province.

*Presentation at the Joaquin V. Gonzalez
Teaching Institute of the Federal Capital.

#Presentation at the Center for Criminological
Studies of the Police of Buenos Aires Province, in
La Plata, Buenos Aires Province.

ePresentation as part of the 3rd National
Conference of Archaeology Students, in Rosario,
Santa Fe Province.

#Presentation given in the course of Fields in
Anthropology in the Department of
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Anthropology of the School of Humanities of
the University of Rosario, Santa Fe Province.

ePresentation given at the School of
Engineering of the University of Mar del Plata,
Buenos Aires Province.

*Presentation in the School of Natural
Sciences of the University of La Plata, Buenos
Aires Province.

ePresentation at the Professional School of
History and Geography, Almirante Brown,
Buenos Aires Province.

e Presentation as part of the XVIth Workshop
on Forensic Medicine, organized by the
Association of Forensic Doctors of the
Argentine Republic, in Santiago del Estero
Province.

*Presentation in the course on Introduction
to Philosophy, in the Department of Law of the
University of Buenos Aires.

*Presentation in the course on Biological
Anthropology in the Department of
Anthropological Sciences of the School of
Philosophy and Letters of the University of
Buenos Aires.

sPresentation at the Joaquin V. Gonzalez
Teaching Institute of the Federal Capital. The
Mothers of the Plaza de Mayo (Founding Line)
and the Association of Relatives of Detained
Disappeared People for Political Reasons also
participated on this event.

*Presentation given in the Post Graduate
Course on Legal Medicine, in the Department
of Medicine of the University of Buenos Aires.

*Presentation as part of the “Memory and
Identity” series organized by the Department of
Social Work of the School of Social Sciences,
University of Buenos Aires.

*Presentation to first year (TEA) students in
the School of Journalism, Buenos Aires.
Representatives of the Mother of the Plaza de
Mayo (Founding Line) and the Association of
Relatives of Detained Disappeared People for
Political Reasons also participated.

sPresentation in the city of Trelew, Chubut
Province, as part of the Postgraduate Course for
legal doctors of Patagonia.

* Presentation in the Open Course on Human
Rights in the School of Philosophy and Letters of
the University of Buenos Aires.

* Presentation for the Florencio Varela Radical
Committee, Buenos Aires Province.

*Presentation at the High School No.2 of
Qlavarria, Buenos Aires Province.

*Presentation at the School of Psychology of
the University of Buenos Aires. Also participat-
ing were representatives of the Mothers of the
Plaza de Mayo (Founding Line), Grandmothers
of the Plaza de Mayo, and the Association of
Relatives of Detained/Disappeared People for
Political Reasons.

ePresentation at the Department of
Anthropology of the School of Humanities of the
University of Rosario, Santa Fe Province.

ePresentation in the city of Cazuelas, Buenos
Aires Province as part of an event entitled “First
Cazuelas Workshops in Human Rights.”
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